



ARE WE THERE YET?

7 insights from the future, every parent should start noticing

2024 ECD Megatrends Report from Abu Dhabi Early Childhood Authority

Contents

- Megatrends Executive Summary 04
- 10 Recommendations and 7 Megatrends for the Future of ECD 05
- Foreword from the Director General of ECA HE Sana Mohamed Suhail 06
- 07 Acknowledgments
- The Report 08
- 10 Rationale
- 12 Megatrends and Foresight at ECA
- Trends versus Megatrends 13
- How Trends and Megatrends co-exist 14
- 15 Use of Data in Foresight
- Guide to navigate the Megatrends 16
- 18 10 Questions for the Future
- 1 Learning (in flux) 20
- 2 Value of Time
- **3 Ageless Society** 24
- 4 Migration & Urbanization 26
- 28 5 Tech & Humanity
- 6 Misalignments
- 7 Beyond Resources
- 34 ECA Megatrends Report Conclusions
- ECA Megatrends Report Recommendations 35
- References 36

Learning (in flux)

What if the way we engage with learning is going to change the way we are?

Value of time

Do we know the real prize of enriching our children's lives?

Migration and Urbanization

Are we preparing for the rural-urban trade-off? Will it ever happen?

How will we navigate the new frontier of bodytech fusion?

Beyond Resources

Can our children thrive with less than we had?

Commonly used abbreviations ECD: Early Childhood Development AD: Aby Dhabi

This megatrend report incorporates text generated by ChatGPT, a language model developed by OpenAI, and illustrations created by MidJourney.

Ageless Society

What if the future will see a dichotomy between ageing populations and new "birthonomics"?

Tech and Humanity

Misalignment

What will the future of parents and children relationship look like?

ECA: Abu Dhabi Early Childhood Authority

Megatrends Executive Summary A world of opportunity and beyond

This report advocates a balanced, holistic, and positive future for children. Its aim is to provide a "bird's eye view" of multiple changing megatrends in early childhood and adopting a holistic view, rather than simply considering early childhood by focusing on a single sector or issue at a time.

The Early Childhood Authority (ECA) mandate adopts a holistic approach, covering health and nutrition, family support, child protection, and early care and education, and hence it is perfectly positioned to anticipate the future of early childhood. The megatrends identified by the ECA foresight team this year includes: Learning (in flux), Value of Time, Ageless Society, Migration and Urbanization, Tech and Humanity, Misalignment, and Beyond Resources.

This report aims to guide individuals, government entities, academia, caregivers, and parents in preparing for an evolving landscape, using uncertainties to explore strengths and weaknesses. Recognizing the interconnected nature of megatrends, this report advocates a proactive, collaborative, and adaptable approach to shaping the future of early childhood. Each sector will use the Megatrends in a different and specific manner according to their needs, strategies and plans. This report aims at creating awareness, interconnectivity and collaboration among sectors as well as presents ten recommendations. These recommendations have been prioritized as possible examples we can use to strive for a positive and holistic future

where children can thrive and reach their full potential; in line with the ECA vision and the Aspirational Child:

"Every young child can flourish to their full potential in a safe and family friendly environment."

10 Recommendations & 7 Megatrends for the Future of Early Childhood

- 1. Foresight integrated policy framework (FIPF): Develop policies that acknowledge the interdependence of megatrends, ensuring a comprehensive approach to early childhood development.
- 2. Foresight and scenario planning across government and stakeholders: Invest in research to anticipate diverse futures, enabling informed decision-making and strategic planning.
- 3. Future-proof education transformation (FET): Adapt education systems to the changing nature of learning, emphasizing critical thinking, reintegrating imagination and creativity, expanding digital literacy, and promoting physical and emotional intelligence.
- 4. Anticipatory parental support programmes (APSP): Recognize and address evolving parent-child dynamics, providing resources for parental education, mental health, and positive relationship-building and family dynamics.
- 5. Future-proof infrastructure planning for urbanization: Develop infrastructure supporting children's well-being in urban areas while promoting conscious urbanization with a view of the changing environment, needs, values and culture.
- 6. Integrate healthcare and neurodiversity in a changing society: Integrate neurodiversity considerations into healthcare and

education, offering specialized support for children with diverse and changing needs.

7. Technology foresight ethics and regulation: Develop ethical guidelines and regulations to harness technology for children's benefit while emphasizing digital literacy and security.

8. Sustainable resource optimization: Encourage sustainable practices and responsible resource use with the future in mind, ensuring children can thrive with efficient and forward-looking resource allocation. Integrating innovation with the long-term view, not disruption.

9. Foster resilience with community engagement and collaboration: Facilitate collaboration between stakeholders for open dialogue and joint initiatives supporting holistic childhood development.

10. Continuous monitoring and adaptation: Implement mechanisms for ongoing monitoring, adapting policies based on emerging insights and changing circumstances.

Foreword by **Sana Mohamed Suhail**

Director General of Abu Dhabi Early Childhood Authority

It is with great pleasure that I present to you the 2024 ECD Megatrends Report from the Abu Dhabi Early Childhood Authority (ECA).

7 insights from the future every parent should start noticing Are we there yet?

This report represents a pivotal milestone in our journey towards ensuring a balanced, holistic, and positive future for our children and families. At ECA, we recognize the profound impact of early childhood experiences on the future generations and the society. Our mandate, encompassing health, nutrition, family support, child protection, and education, positions us uniquely to anticipate and shape the future of early childhood.

This year's report sheds light on seven megatrends that are reshaping the landscape of early childhood development: Learning (in flux), Value of Time, Ageless Society, Migration and Urbanization, Tech and Humanity, Misalignment, and Beyond Resources. These megatrends underscore the interconnectedness of various factors influencing the well-being and development of our children.

As we navigate these megatrends, it is imperative for us to adopt a proactive, collaborative, and adaptable approach. The recommendations outlined in this report provide a roadmap for stakeholders across sectors to champion policies and initiatives that prioritize the needs of our children and families.

Furthermore, this report serves as a testament to our commitment to foresight and innovation. By anticipating future trends and challenges, we can better prepare Abu Dhabi's children for the opportunities and uncertainties that lie ahead. This report is therefore not just for expert and professionals in the ECD sectors but it is also for parents and teachers and caregivers, to widen the perspective and adopt a long-term horizon for the future of our children.

I extend my heartfelt gratitude to the foresight team at ECA for their dedication and expertise in compiling this report. also express my appreciation to our partners, stakeholders, and the broader community for their ongoing support and collaboration.

Together, let us embark on this journey towards a brighter future for our children-one characterized by resilience, inclusivity, and boundless opportunities.

Sincerely,

H.E. Sana Mohamed Suhail Director General Abu Dhabi Early Childhood Authority



and support.

Acknowledgements

The foresight research and analysis was undertaken bu the Abu Dhabi Early Childhood Authority entirely. The work led by Dr Maddalena Campioni Future, Foresight and Strategy Expert at ECA. Leading the work was the Executive Director of Knowledge and Impact Sector H.E. Dr Yousef Salem Al Hammadi.

A special thanks goes also to the ECA Advisers, external experts, including Rabih Abouchakra from the Crown Prince Court and member of the Strategic Affairs and Future Foresight team from the Abu Dhabi Department of Government Enablement as well as Shai Naides, Chief of Youth Engagement and Strategy at UNICEF Innocenti Global Office of Research and Foresight, and numerous academics such as the invaluable interview with Dr Priti Verma, Associate Executive Dean at the Faculty of Education Higher Colleges of Technology. And thank you to many other academics and professionals which provided incredible insights

The **Report**

The ECA Megatrend Report is entirely produced by the Abu Dhabi Early Childhood Authority (ECA) is a government entity with a transversal mandate covering health and nutrition, family support, child protection and early care and education. ECA is adopting a future-oriented, resilient, and sustainable approach which considers that strategic priorities need to be tackled in a holistic way; understanding and integrating megatrends in everything ECA does and keeping the focus on how these are shaping the future is fundamental. In order to identify what influence the Early Childhood Development (ECD) sector could have in the future, the ECA foresight Team embarked in a foresight study to identify the megatrend relevant for the ECD sector. Foresight is about anticipating what might happen, understanding the ramification of key events and changes, and imagining a better possible and plausible future. Foresight is about making sense of large amounts of information, surface priorities and areas of interest to create resilience.

The report on Megatrends aims at surfacing major patterns in the ecosystem likely to determine what changes will take place at global and local scales. They are the first steps in considering what are the forces that are currently pushing the present into the future.

In general, foresight literature focuses on individual elements of early childhood i.e. education, health or other; ECA, however, adopts a holistic wider view and the current literature on single sector is not enough. This is a unique publication on the megatrends influencing early childhood.

The aim of this report is triple: firstly, stay ahead of the curve by keeping an eye on these transformative megatrends; secondly, to surface, analyse, and link global megatrends for early childhood development; and thirdly creating a fundamental foresight tool for early childhood.



Megatrends help us to focus on how the future will develop, and it is up to us all, in our actions and inactions, how we perceive and enact that future. But if we fail to consider megatrends in their entirety, we risk losing important insights and dynamics of change that could be fundamental for decision-making. We could create a blindspot or skewed perspective towards change, leading to fragility.

opportunities.

This involves issues such as reducing obesity in young children, detecting special needs early, reducing child mortality, increasing mental health of children, parents, and caregivers, reducing the socioeconomic gap in learning, nurturing positive cultural identity and social cohesion, addressing quality time between parents and children, increasing confidence in the child protection system, and rehabilitating child victims, enabling the private sector in the early childhood development sector and more. Single interventions, policy, research and strategy need to be linked to the dynamic of change making Abu Dhabi a child-friendly Emirate, mitigating risks and leveraging



Rationale

This Report is not intended as a systematic literature review but rather a collective agreement among experts on current foresight knowledge for the Early Childhood Development (ECD) sector. This will move and change as time passes and therefore this report will keep on evolving year after year.

In this report there are examples of major megatrends specific to the ECD sector, identified and prioritized from analyses and negotiated agreement from experts³ interviews and advisers, and integrating results from scoping workshops, meetings, and a review of reports and scholarly articles, as well as online research.



Abu Dhabi Early Childhood Authority

Megatrends and Foresight at Early Childhood Authority?

What are the five uses and benefits of defining megatrends for Early Childhood Development?

- Creating awareness and resilience among parents and general population, creating an integrated understanding of current and future changes.
- Protecting and supporting children and parents means that we, as government, are building and supporting a framework resilient to change and anticipatory in nature.
- Understanding Early Childhood Development megatrends creates important contextual insights for strategy development, planning, decision-making, research, policy, and operational development, while considering cultural identity and social cohesion.
- Anticipating what might come and what, as government, we need to put in place in terms of policies, regulations, information, and awareness campaigns, and so on, creating resilience and sustainability for society.
- Foresight material and, in particular, trends and megatrends can also be of interest for a wider understanding of dynamics of change that will impact on Abu Dhabi and our societies.

Megatrends can have both positive and negative impacts, and they shape the opportunities and challenges that societies and economies face.

Make use of them by integrating the different megatrends into your projects, your decisions, your teaching and your children's upbringing and see how this affects your everyday perspective of life.

Identifying and understanding megatrends can help individuals, experts, academia, businesses, and policymakers anticipate and adapt to the changing landscape and focus on resilience and sustainability, as well as provide a wider perspective on decision-making.



Trends vs Megatrends

Trends are relatively short-term shifts in behaviour, attitudes, or technology that can be observed over a period of a few years. Trends can be driven by a variety of factors, such as changes in preferences, technological advances, or economic conditions. Examples of current trends include new schooling models, child and parental mental health, and increased cross-sectoral collaboration for childcare.

Megatrends, on the other hand, are more significant and long-lasting shifts in the global landscape that are expected to shape the world for decades to come. Megatrends are driven by large-scale social, economic, or environmental forces and are characterized by their broad and far-reaching impact. Examples of current megatrends include climate change, urbanization, demographic shifts, and technological disruption.



Megatrends	
10+ years	

How Trends and **Megatrends** co-exist

T = Trends M = Megatrends

Different trends might be related to each other because of a similar topic or interlinked topics (+), and at the same time they can be linked to megatrends. But not all are interlinked. Understanding the dynamics and interactions between trends and megatrends will allow for a better understanding of change.

Each megatrend in this report will create an opportunity to anticipate possible consequences and develop policies ahead of time, strategies, plans, research, and more.



Use of Data in Foresight

Assumptions:

- The use of data in foresight is different than how it is used in research or other disciplines;
- The future is not here yet; therefore, any use of data is a proxy for future and foresight insights. Data used in this report have an illustrative purpose only;
- While the logic is based on the assumption that "nobody knows the future", and therefore we are building it as we go, data might help us to understand plausible possible futures and the dynamics of change;
- The figure below is a crude representation of how data is used for foresight and in this ECA Megatrend Report in particular.



Guide to navigate the **Megatrends**

Megatrend Title	1. Learning (in flux)
Question for the future	The Big Question What if how we engage with learning is going to change the way we are?
	3-4 year olds worldwide already online ⁽¹⁾
Introductory explanation	Learning in flux: Learning and education is in flux and has been disrupted. The future presents new opportunities for personalized learning, but also raises concerns about screen time, cognitive development, and the digital divide. Let's consider the following three elements which are important to start noticing:
Three elements defining the Megatrend	The transformation [®] is here to stay, for the long term and is an integral part of early childhood learning. Technology and COVID combined had created a fundamental change among resurces. This transformation can potentially enrich children's educational journeys, while offering flexibility and options to children and parents alike. The future may also see a loss of analytical and emotional skills and a rise in addiction. At the same time, limited access to finance, technology, and internet connectivity in disodvantaged communities exacerbates educational disparities and inclusivity , [®] affecting children's learning apportunities. The future sees an imbalance approach potentially accentuating, [®] affecting children's learning apportunities. The future sees an imbalance approach potentially accentuating, [®] and the same rate, causing agyunchang [®] in both adoption of technologies, and understanding implications and consequences of change vs benefits and augmentation for children. The future is about an asynchrong [®] in both adoption of technologies, and understanding implications and development. Transformation, inclusivity, and agyunchang ratifications become more apparent.
Present data linking the megatrend to a possible future	>1 in 4 Abu Dhabi parents in favour of apps and adgets as part of adily activities for 0–8-year- oids ¹⁰ 34% Parents in UAE who feel children need extra tutoring beyond secondary school ¹⁰⁰ 10% Schools worldwide formal response (policy, guidelines) to GenAl ⁽⁷⁾
Example of imagining the future ramification	In 2050, your 7-year-old daughter could learn about her future career based on Al tracking her interests and growth at school, home, and in the playground

Eleme	ents
-------	------

Transformation

$\bf 25,000$ – UAE gov. teachers and administrators trained in remote learning in the wa of the pandemic, as well as 9,200 private school teachers and principals $^{(0)}$
57.5% – more than half of daily online time in UAE is spent on mobile $^{(\!9\!)}$
50 million – Arab students accessing free education platform madrasa.org $^{(0)}$
1.6 billion –monthly visits to ChatGPT by June 2023(11)

Inclusivity

	Pros and cons of late adoption	More than 1 in 4 – Abu Dhabi parents in favour of apps and gadgets as part of daily activities for 0- to 8-year-olds $^{(0)}$
	Access and affordability	18,000+ students to be trained by 2026 in a free access, no-teaching staff network of 52 coding schools worldwide, including Abu Dhabi Campus on Mina Zayed (**)
		221% – increase in gaming live streams in Arabic on Twitch during lockdowns among 4.4 million fans in Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) area $^{\rm (12)}$
	Getting ahead with premium	2287.9 billion – global private online tutoring market by 2030, up from \$147.6 billion i 2022 with annual growth rate of 8.7% $^{\rm (13)}$
	Inclusivity policies	500 million – pre-school to upper secondary students worldwide unable to access remote learning during pandemic $^{(\rm N)}$

Asynchrony

Uneven pace of understanding	3000 – Australian families who will be the subject of "Digital Child", the world's first longitudinal study into digital childhood, 0- to 7-year-olds, starting in 2023 $^{\scriptscriptstyle (15)}$
Speed of change vs adoption	87% – 3- to 4-year-olds worldwide already online, 23% of them are on social media
Old learning modes lagging behind	34% – parents in UAE who feel kids need extra tutoring beyond secondary school $^{(6)}$ 29% believed same for primary school $^{(05)}$
Effectiveness vs efficiency 59% - UAE parents preferred to continue with distance learning while classroom lessons ⁽⁷⁾	
Current needs vs emergent needs	Under 10% – schools with response to Al disruption $^{(7)}$



10 Questions for the **Future**



- 1. Do we know what the future will look like?
- 2. How important is it that we have a clearer view of possible futures?
- 3. How can we better prepare Abu Dhabi Children for the future?
- **4.** Will there be schools in the future?
- 5. What will the future classroom look like?
- 6. How will autism and other neuro-diversities be considered in the future?
- 7. What will children be facing in the future?
- 8. How do we anticipate and prepare?
- 9. What is beyond AI and robotics?
- **10.** What role will tech play?



The following 7 Megatrends result from the negotiated agreement of numerous experts in the Early Childhood Development field and beyond. These are the main priorities we should be always consider in the ECD environment as government entities, educators, academics, parents, and individuals for the future of our youth and society.

1. Learning (in flux)



The Big Question

What if how we engage with learning is going to change the way we are?

3-4 year olds worldwide already online⁽¹⁾

Learning in flux: Learning and education is in flux and has been disrupted. The future presents new opportunities for personalized learning, but also raises concerns about screen time, cognitive development, and the digital divide. Let's consider the following three elements which are important to start noticing:

The transformation⁽²⁾ is here to stay, for the long term and is an integral part of early childhood learning. Technology and COVID combined had created a fundamental change among others, the future sees the rise of interactive educational apps, online learning platforms, and digital resources. This transformation can potentially enrich children's educational journeys, while offering flexibility and options to children and parents alike. The future may also see a loss of analytical and emotional skills and a rise in addiction.

At the same time, limited access to finance, technology, and internet connectivity in disadvantaged communities exacerbates educational disparities and **inclusivity**,⁽³⁾ affecting children's learning opportunities. The future sees an imbalance approach potentially accentuating inequality.

Teachers, educators, policymakers, and parents are not able to keep up with the speed of transformation at the same rate, causing **asynchrony**⁽⁴⁾ in both adoption of technologies, and understanding implications and consequences of change vs benefits and augmentation for children.

The future is about an asynchrony in speed and understanding but also about choice of adoption and tech development. Transformation, inclusivity, and asynchrony ramifications become more apparent.

>1 in 4 Abu Dhabi parents in favour of apps and gadgets as part of daily activities for 0–8-year-olds ⁽⁵⁾ Parents in UAE who feel children need extra tutoring beyond secondary school⁽⁶⁾ Schools worldwide having any type of formal response (policy, guidelines) to GenAl⁽⁷⁾

<10%

Imagine

In 2050, your 7-year-old daughter could learn about her future career based on Al tracking her interests and growth at school, home, and in the playground

34%



Transformation

Conscious and inclusive	25,000 – UAE gov. teachers and administrators pandemic, as well as 9,200 private school teach
Merging spheres of learning spaces	57.5% – more than half of daily online time in U
Flattening dynamic of learning	50 million – Arab students accessing free educ
Outsourcing elements of learning	1.6 billion –monthly visits to ChatGPT by June

Inclusivity

Pros and cons of late adoption	More than 1 in 4 – Abu Dhabi parents in favour 0- to 8-year-olds ⁽⁵⁾
Access and affordability	18,000+ students to be trained by 2026 in a free schools worldwide, including Abu Dhabi Campus
Arabic in digital spheres	221% – increase in gaming live streams in Arabia fans in Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) area ⁽¹²⁾
Getting ahead with premium	\$287.9 billion – global private online tutoring ma annual growth rate of 8.7% ⁽¹³⁾
Inclusivity policies	500 million – pre-school to upper secondary stu during pandemic ⁽¹⁴⁾

Asynchrony

Uneven pace of understanding	3000 – Australian families who will be the subje longitudinal study into digital childhood, 0- to 7
Speed of change vs adoption	87% – 3- to 4-year-olds worldwide already onlin
Old learning modes lagging behind	34% – parents in UAE who feel kids need extra to same for primary school ⁽¹⁰⁶⁾
Effectiveness vs efficiency	${\bf 59\%-UAE}$ parents preferred to continue with di lessons^{(17)}
Current needs vs emergent needs	Under 10% – schools with response to Al disrupt

Elements

rs trained in remote learning in the wake of the chers and principals ⁽⁸⁾

UAE is spent on mobile⁽⁹⁾

cation platform madrasa.org ⁽¹⁰⁾

e 2023(11)

r of apps and gadgets as part of daily activities for

ee access, no-teaching staff network of 52 coding ous on Mina Zayed ⁽¹⁰⁾

bic on Twitch during lockdowns among 4.4 million $^{\scriptscriptstyle(12)}$

narket by 2030, up from \$147.6 billion in 2022 with

tudents worldwide unable to access remote learning

ject of "Digital Child", the world's first 7-year-olds, starting in 2023 ⁽¹⁵⁾

line, 23% of them are on social media

tutoring beyond secondary school (6); 29% believed

distance learning while 41% backed classroom

ption⁽⁷⁾

2. Value of Time



The Big Question

Do we know the real price of enriching our children's lives?

less time spent by parents with children per week in Abu Dhabi vs those in OECD countries ⁽¹⁷⁾

There is a crucial time in the development of children and in a family dynamic that is undervalued. Parents are losing valuable time during their children's development due to pressure of modern commitments. Family time is "leaking" into other areas of life. For the future there are three elements we need to start noticing: awareness, placement of time, exploitation

We are witnessing a general lack of awareness⁽¹⁰⁾ of the important factors affecting parent-child quality time during a child's development.

Will we in the future loose consciousness? Parents are scheduling the day-to-day activities of their children around learning, playing and engaging in extracurricular activities. While these activities can enrich the lives of children, they are often competing with the quality time parents spend with their children. Here, we are surfacing the importance of conscious **placement of time**.⁽¹⁹⁾

What if complacency in taking an action leads to unintended consequences? Online, the private sector competes to grab the attention of children and parents alike, inserting themselves in the diminishing time families have together. The attention-reliant business models of online platforms have created an environment of **exploitation**⁽²⁰⁾ in the competition to grab attention. Increasingly, in this ecosystem, a renewed emphasis on intention comes to play. Early screen time is affecting cognitive development ⁽²¹⁾ ...perhaps in the future we look back and find it alarming that children even had access to screens or certain apps/devices before specific ages.

80%

Human brain develops before the age of 3⁽²²⁾

68% UAE parents claim children spend too much time online ⁽²³⁾

^{pend too} 32 mil.

Reported cases of online grooming of kids in US alone ⁽²⁴⁾

Imagine

Everyday at breakfast you gather as a family in order to consult M(Al)tha – your efficiency Al – about how to organize the day in a way that allows for both productivity and quality time.



Awareness

Rise of mindful time	\$7,586 million – expected market value of "mind
Cognitive windows	80% – human brain development before the age
Split attention	+8.8% – year on year growth of mobile's share in
Value of play	97% – parents in UAE believing play improves the

Placement of Time

Cost of bonding	2–3 x – less time spent by parents with children parents with children parents with children parents with the spectrum of t
System vs individual	30% – parents claim too much work a key barrier t
Division of time online vs in real life	68% – UAE parents claim children spend too much

Exploitation

Monetizing attention	105% – TikTok ads reach to all adults aged 18 and
Banking on trust	1,200% – increase in Gen Z usage of the BeReal a authenticity and transparency ⁽²⁷⁾
Instant gratification game	17.6 million hours – daily hours spent on watching
Colonizing online spaces	32 million – reported cases of online grooming of

Elements

ndfulness" apps by 2031, up from \$522 million in 2022⁽²⁵⁾

je of 3 (22)

in all web traffic in UAE $^{\scriptscriptstyle (26)}$

neir family happiness and wellbeing ⁽²³⁾

per week in Abu Dhabi vs OECD countries (17)

r to playing more as a family ⁽²³⁾

ch time online ⁽²³⁾

above in UAE (26)

app compared to 2020 – social medium emphasizing

ng Instagram Reels worldwide ⁽²⁸⁾

f children in USA alone (24)

3. Ageless Society



The Big Question

What if the future will see a dichotomy between ageing populations and new birthonomics?

average life expectancy worldwide by 2050, increasing from 73 in 2023 ⁽²⁹⁾

Changing demographics leads to a variety of dynamics and ramifications for families and societies. We are witnessing a global decline in births, paired with longer lifespans. A demographic turmoil but also new opportunities for intergenerational relationships, for example ageinclusive societies, and support systems promoting healthy ageing. For the future, there are 3 important dynamics to notice:accessibility, extended interactions, multigenerational households

Important changes focusing on population dynamics and accessibility. ^(30 31)

What if couples continue having children later in life or experiencing fertility challenges? At the same time demand has risen to provide support systems that address the unique needs of older parents and consider the entire life cycle.

Increasing lifespans enable **extended interactions** ⁽³²⁾ between older adults and young children, promoting positive intergenerational relationships and benefiting children's cognitive, social, and emotional development. This has implications for social stability and economic implications among other socio-economic considerations.

What if the future sees a return to greater life expectancies? Families may experience further **multi-generational households**,⁽³³⁾ grandparent caregiving, and the blending of roles, which can influence early childhood development and support systems.

1.2%

2024 decline rate in births in UAE compared to 2023 ⁽³⁴⁾

150 mil. Worldwide jobs shifting to workers over 55 years old by 2030 (35)

s 28%

% Over 65s living in UAE in 2050 (36)

Imagine

You're calling your children to help in the kitchen. Today's dinner is in celebration of your sister's new baby – first in years for the family. Your Greatgreat-grandparents are in the room and share their wisdom with the new mother. You're emotional at the sight of your household finally growing.



Accessibility

Decline in births	1.2% – decline in birth rate in UAE since 2023 $^{\scriptscriptstyle (34)}$
New family dynamics	44% – US couples under 50 not planning to have
Access to support (fertility)	20% – large US companies offering egg freezing c
Autonomy – system and individual	54 – number of world governments without an a
Tech and science at centre stage	\$68.9 billion – expected market worth of Femte

Extended Interactions

Extended lifespan	77 – average life expectancy by 2050, from 73
Economic implications	150 million – worldwide jobs shifting to workers
Age-inclusive society	28% – over 65-year-olds living in UAE in 2050 $^{\scriptscriptstyle (3)}$
Health and ageing	\$142 billion by 2026 – personalized medicine r rate (CAGR) ⁽⁴¹⁾

Multi-generational Households

Intergenerational learning opportunity	4 times more Americans in multigenerational ho
More immersed in heritage	8% – MENA youth in 2023 referring to Arabic he derived it from their language $^{\rm (43)}$
Managing continuity	86.4% – family cohesion index for UAE measuring
Connectivity	27% – MENA youth declaring family as primary

Elements

4)

ive children ⁽³⁷⁾

as part of employee insurance scheme (38)

official fertility policy (39)

tech industry in 2027 from \$37.3 billion in 2023 (40)

3 in 2023 (29)

ers over 55 years old by 2030⁽³⁵⁾

(36)

market globally, with 11% compound annual growth

ouseholds compared to 50 years ago (42)

eritage as main source of personal identity, 11%

ing strength of social bonds in family (44)

y source of personal identity, up from 17% in 2022 $^{\scriptscriptstyle{(45)}}$

4. Migration & Urbanization



The Big Question

Are we preparing for a rural–urban tradeoff?

population growth in Abu Dhabi in 42 years ⁽⁴⁶⁾

A megatrend affecting early childhood which has been happening for a while: the population shift from rural areas to cities. This is expected to continue in the future and there are three elements which are important to start noticing: enhanced access, social isolation, limited access to natural environment

The future sees urban environments offer opportunities for **enhanced access** ⁽⁴⁷⁾ to education, healthcare, and diverse experiences. However, there are some challenges and risks posed to children living in urban spaces.

While urban areas may offer various opportunities and amenities, they can also foster a sense of social isolation⁽⁴⁸⁾ and decreased community cohesion, affecting children's social development, cultural identity, and well-being.

What if in the future we struggle to connect with nature? Urbanization also often leads to the proliferation of concrete jungles, with **limited** access to natural environments ⁽⁴⁹⁾ and green spaces. Children growing up in urban areas may have reduced opportunities to interact with nature, causing negative consequences on their physical and mental well-being.

68%

global population living in urban settings by 2050, up from 55% today ⁽⁴⁷⁾ 28% adolescents in UAE experience anxiety significantly higher than global average of 6.5% ⁽⁵⁰⁾ 100 mil. mangrove trees that UAE pledged to plant to reach carbon footprint goal by 2030 to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050.⁽⁹⁾

Imagine

As a child you were worried about your move to Abu Dhabi. However, as you open your holographic welcome letter from the council, you're taken on an augmented reality tour of your new city. Green arrows lead you to a beautiful botanic garden, where you find a large ghaf tree where other children seem to be engaged in some kind of classes – can I join? You ask a boy your age as he smiles and invites you to sit with them.



Enhanced Access

All social layers on the move	68% – global population living in urban setting:
Accelerated growth	1,000% – population growth in Abu Dhabi in 42
Megaprojects	2 million by 2030 – estimated population of Na Saudi Arabia ⁽⁶²⁾

Social Isolation

Anxiety	28% – adolescents in UAE experience anxiety –
Alone together – mental challenges	90 – number of initiatives introduced by UAE in tackle physical health, mental health, and socia
Isolated but connected	78 million – simultaneous visitors to one live co

Limited Access to Natural Environments

Transforming land	1 million – Ghaf trees pledged to be planted us by CAFU $^{\rm (55)}$
Transforming daily spaces (office, flat)	2640 – number of trees planned to be planted
Race to get greener	83000 - green jobs in UAE by 2030 ⁽⁵⁷⁾
Reducing footprint	100 million - Mangrove trees that the UAE plan carbon footprint and achieve neutrality by 205
Community of communities	500 – governors, mayors and other subnationa "Local Action Climate Summit" during COP 28; climate action. ⁽⁵⁸)

Elements

gs by 2050, up from 55% today ⁽⁴⁷⁾

42 years (46)

Neom, a brand new 100% clean energy city in

- significantly higher than global average of 6.5% ⁽⁵⁰⁾

in 2019 as part of National Wellbeing Strategy 2031 to cial relationships $^{\scriptscriptstyle{(53)}}$

concert inside a children's game (Fortnite) in 2021⁽⁵⁴⁾

using unmanned ground vehicles (UGV) developed

d on Impact One Vertical Forest in Dubai ⁽⁵⁶⁾

ans to plant by 2030 which will help to reduce the 050. $^{\rm (51)}$

nal leaders came together for the first of its kind 8; 71 countries joined new coalition on urban

5. Tech & Humanity



The Big Question

How will we navigate the new frontier of body-tech fusion?

overall UAE gaming market size value⁽⁵⁹⁾

The balance between tech and humanity needs to be well defined. From brain-computer interface to Al and large language models (LLM), robotic prosthetic enhancements and AR goggles, tech is being further integrated into the ways we work, learn, play and live our lives, but what are the ramifications for the future? Start noticing **these three important elements:mind body gap, disruption of education system, augmented reality**

The future sees us facing the ramifications of a number of important innovations; however, the change caused by these innovations are not well understood. For example, Al, enhanced exoskeletons, and VR are bridging the **mind–body gap** ^(co) in connecting the mind with devices on the other side of the globe or offering a promise of mobility to children with mobility issues, often caused by spinal damage or defects.

Al and LLM (Large Language Models) ⁽⁶¹⁾ such as ChatGPT and Google Bard are enhancing or **disrupting our education systems**, ⁽⁶²⁾ for example challenging cognitive development, the existing testing standards, and models by which we measure academic progress, and at the same time raising issues and opportunities for equality and accessibility.

In the future we will see, for example, enhanced accessibility to **augmented reality** ⁽⁶³⁾ devices such as the Apple Vision Pro which can dramatically disrupt the ways in which children will interact with our physical world, further blurring the line between digital and physical spaces and ultimately affecting their emotional intelligence, a very critical future skill for children and society. In addition, there are concerns around privacy, individual freedoms, consent with technology (tricky with children), and how the mass adoption of new technologies has overtaken our ability to assess impact on health (including mental health), and of course the ability to legislate well. All these creating a number of ramifications that, if not anticipated, are difficult to disentangle

increase globally in the period 2010–2020 in Neurotech ⁽⁶⁴⁾ UN agencies gathered in 2023 to address the AI as an unregulated grey space during AI for Good Summit ⁽⁶⁵⁾

4.7 hr/day World's Gen Z daily time spent in Metaverse by 2027⁽⁶⁶⁾

Imagine

22x

You are on your way to your cousin's apartment as you promised to help his children upload the C2-level language courses in Arabic, Spanish, and Russian into their new exoskeletons. They want to practise Arabic during the Exo-Sports tournament

40



Mind Body Gap

Fusing body with tech (blurred boundaries)	22x – increase between 2010 and 2020 globally
24/7 tech exposure	32.1 billion – number of connected IoT devices v
Beyond human	\$6.2 billion by 2030 – estimated global brain–cor

Disruption to Education System

Advancing at new speeds	150% – expected increase in the world's total of
Call for new measuring standards	40 – UN agencies gathered in 2023 to address
Un(fore)seen students	$\textbf{42\%}$ – online students are 30 years old or olde other emerging digital tools $^{(71)}$
Re-defining role and time of play	52.4 million – number of 50+ gamers in USA, 3

Augmenting Reality

Self-perception	\$54 billion – industry value of avatars, digital s
Gaming	0.4 billion – overall UAE gaming market size val
Cognition	680.1 billion by 2027 – EdTech industry value v
Digital plains	4.7 hours a day - World's Gen Z daily time sper

Elements

lly in Neurotech (64)

worldwide by 2030 (67)

omputer interfaces market (68)

amount of data by 2025 equal to 181 zettabytes (69)

ss the AI regulations during AI for Good Summit ⁽⁷⁰⁾

er on Guru99, an online school for coders, Al, and

32% increase in 3 years (72)

skins, and accessories for online identities (73)

alue⁽⁵⁹⁾

with CAGR of 17.9% in the period 2020-2027(74)

ent in Metaverse by 2027 ⁽⁶⁶⁾

6. Misalignment



The Big Question

What will the future of parents and children relationships look like?

UAE population spend over 21 hours per week on social media ⁽⁷⁵⁾

External factors are competing with parents for playing a role in children's development. Media, family, friends, educators, and influencers are shaping children's perspective of the world, for better or for worse. Let's consider the **following three elements which are important to start noticing: access to globalized world, alternative family dynamics, cultural contexts and values**

Children are facing reduced exposure to their own culture and heritage, as global connectivity is providing ease of access to the globalized world. ⁽⁶⁾ Now, influencers, they have never met, play a large role in shaping their worldviews.

What if divorce, remarriage, and blended families could create **alternative family dynamics**⁽⁷⁷⁾ that can be challenging for caregivers and children to navigate. Community resources, such as parenting programmes and support groups, provide guidance and assistance to parents in strengthening their bond with their children. Where perhaps future schools might play a far larger community role.

In a changing schooling system, the future might present us with franchised educational institutes such as an out-of-the box approach to school's service provision, bringing a variety of **cultural contexts and values** ^(PB) which may not be a best fit for their new environment or, alternatively, a connection to nature and a more balanced approach to culture and identity. Do we know what we want?



Imagine

The school your son attends employs a new children's career counsellor in an attempt to enable a smoother learning experience for those pupils who also run successful media influencer companies and art collectives.



Access to a Globalized World

Negotiating heritage	27% – children quoting "the world" as main source
Growing up on a move	20% – increase in international schools across N
Digital tribes	377 million – eSports gamers from the Middle East

Alternative Family Dynamics

Family in flux	2021 – UAE Cabinet Launches "Cohesive Familų
Outsourced care	${\bf 58\%}$ – children under the age of three in the Gu per week $^{\scriptscriptstyle (80)}$

Cultural Contexts and Values

Juggling contexts	28 by 2025 – planned number of public "Ajyal" UAE curriculum to boost local culture ⁽⁸¹⁾
Voices inside the screen	21% - UAE population spend over 21 hours per we
Parental control	\$3.54 billion by 2032 – global parental control
Child professionals	68% – eSports industry respondents voicing cor minors on e-sporting contracts ⁽⁸⁶⁾
Competing with devices	3.3 devices – daily "technoference" worldwide own child $^{\scriptscriptstyle{(87)}}$

Elements

ce of self-identity over "region" or "city" (79)

MENA region in the period 2015–2021 (82)

ist, the fastest growing gaming region in the world ⁽⁸³⁾

ily 2021"⁽⁸⁴⁾

ulf are cared for by housemaids for 30-70 hours

l" schools in UAE by 2025 operating a hybrid US/

veek on social media⁽⁷⁵⁾

ol software market⁽⁸⁵⁾

oncern over the need for regulation on employing

e (interference of tech devices) on contact with

7. Beyond Resources



The Big Question

Can our children thrive with less than we had?

59%

eco-anxiety among 16- to 25-year-olds across ten countries ⁽⁸⁸⁾

Planetary resources are finite, unevenly managed, and with limited supply. Earth is witnessing an increasing frequency and intensity of natural disasters, as well as pollution, all of which negatively impact children's health and development. **3 things to start noticing: cost of breathing, vulnerability and inequality, access essential resources**

An alarming pay-to-breathe industry is emerging and flourishing in developing and heavily industrialized nations, where those that can afford it are, for example, relying on expensive indoor air purification systems as an answer to increasing air pollution including particulate matter. The future sees a lot of innovation, but will it be coordinated? **Cost of Breathing**. ⁽⁸⁹⁾

Displaced families, loss of livelihoods, damaged infrastructure, and reduced economic activities can lead to increased vulnerability and inequality. ⁽⁹⁰⁾ At the same time, the future might see families and communities come together in times of difficulty. Should we be thinking of an alternative society, strengthened by new demands and methods?

As resources become scarcer and more expensive, it may be challenging for families with limited financial means to **access essential** resources ⁽⁹¹⁾ such as food, energy, and clean water. Resource scarcity may ignite our acumen or create instability. How do we navigate our way forward? Or could resources be more than enough?

17% Antibiotic resistance rise by 2050⁽⁹²⁾

5.9 mil. People across 84 countries who have been internally displaced due to droughts, heatwaves and climate disasters ⁽¹⁰⁾

86K Green jobs in UAE by 2030 (94)

Imagine

You are about to send your children to a summer camp. You receive a welcome letter with prep info containing detailed instructions on the organizer's policies and procedures in daily biometrics and toxicity tracking as well as sudden disaster protocols.



Cost of Breathing

Bond to nature goes smart	682 – number of start-ups worldwide pursuing t tech and breath tech $^{(95)}$
Designing for perpetual wellness	44,000 – population of a pilot zero-carbon Al N housing units and 10,000 jobs in green tech as p
Harnessing hazards and waste	6.5 mill tonnes – CO2 saved annually by 2030 th
Resistance horizons	17% – antibiotic resistance rise by 2050 ⁽⁹²⁾

Vulnerability and Inequality

Disruption-proof systems	\$160 to 340 billion – a year by 2030 needed t
Creating new contingency lifestyles	5.9 million – people across 84 countries who ha heatwaves, and climate disasters ⁽⁷³⁾
Mental toll	59% – eco-anxiety among 16- to 25-year-olds
Eco-governance	\$43 billion by 2026 – estimated global market in 2020 ⁽⁹⁹⁾
Recovery toll	\$580 billion by 2030 – cost of climate-related

Access Essential Resources

Living past scarcity	AED 7.6 billion – investment in new desalination
Unexplored currencies	7.2% – global economy that is circular, out of 100
Facing inequalities	2.1 billion – people currently without access to
Optimizing living habits	22.9% – the household penetration rate by 2028
Energy appetite	At least 50% – energy consumption increase w

Elements

baby health and vitals monitoring, including sleep

Nama city in Saudi Arabia, providing 11,000 green part of 2030 vision ⁽⁹⁶⁾

hrough Green Hydrogen Project in UAE ⁽⁹⁷⁾

to mitigate and address climate change (98)

ave been internally displaced due to droughts,

across ten countries (88)

et for environmental consulting, up from \$32 billion

ed damage faced by vulnerable countries (100)

on plants in UAE (101)

00 billion tons of virgin materials extracted annually (102)

safe drinking water ⁽¹⁰³⁾

28 (104)

worldwide by 2050 ⁽¹⁰⁶⁾

ECA Megatrends Report Conclusions A world of opportunity and beyond

While we are trying to innovate and advance, we should always strive for a balance between safe and positive futures for children, where parents and educators should not feel guilty but supported. "Preparing for the worst and hoping for the best", choosing our priorities with foresight. And this is the balance between the megatrends.

Ensuring a positive future for children involves a combination of various factors that contribute to their well-being, development, and success. Important factors contribute to the best future for children, such as quality education, healthcare and nutrition, safe and supportive environments, equal opportunities, early childhood development, digital literacy, critical thinking and problem-solving skills, emotional intelligence, environmental awareness, cultural diversity and inclusion, creativity and imagination, physical activity, interpersonal skills, parental involvement, access to arts and culture, aender equality and empowerment, alobal citizenship, adaptability and resilience but how can we best balance these for a changing future for which our actions today will have a long-lasting impact and effect?

This report surfacing Megatrends is intended to contextualize our decisions while navigating priorities and uncovering some ramifications of our actions in a changing environment. The ultimate goal is to initiate and remind people of the importance of thinking about the future and preparing for the future, and, by doing so, creating resilience.

By considering the Megatrends in unison and embedded in the current context we surface dynamics and patterns otherwise invisible. The assumptions - "that we have all the same perception of the present, and that there is only one possible future" – lead us to confusion and paralysis when things change and are not as expected. This report is intended as an initial guide with pointers to the Megatrends we should start noticing and considering, as individuals, government entities, academics, care givers, and parents. Anyone involved with the future of children should read it and try to embed insights and considerations or use it as a starting point for further research.

It is crucial to remember that these Megatrends are interconnected and a holistic approach is necessary to provide the best future for children. It's important for parents, caregivers, educators, and communities to collaborate in order to create an environment where children can thrive and reach their full potential.

ECA **Megatrends** Report Recommendations

- 1. Develop a foresight integrated policy framework (FIPF): Develop an integrated policy framework that recognizes the interconnectedness of the identified megatrends. Policies should be designed to address multiple aspects simultaneously, considering the holistic development of children and the complex interactions between megatrends.
- 2. Foresight and scenario planning across government and stakeholders: Invest in research and scenario planning exercises to anticipate the potential futures outlined in the megatrends. This involves exploring various scenarios related to learning, the value of time, an ageless society, migration and urbanization, tech and humanity, misalignment, and beyond resources. By understanding possible future trajectories, policymakers can make informed decisions today.
- 3. Future-proof education transformation (FET): Given the uncertainty in the future of learning, invest in flexible and adaptive education systems. Promote a curriculum that emphasizes critical thinking, problem-solving skills, digital literacy, soft skills (i.e. imagination, creativity, happiness, positivity, focus) and emotional intelligence. Consider the integration of emerging technologies into education while also recognizing the importance of interpersonal skills.
- 4. Anticipatory parental support programmes (APSP): Recognize the evolving nature of parent-child relationships and create support programmes that help parents navigate the challenges posed bu changing dynamics. Provide resources for parental education, mental health support, and guidance on fostering positive relationships with children in a rapidly evolving technological and societal landscape.
- 5. Future-proof infrastructure planning for urbanization: Address the potential rural-urban trade-off by developing infrastructure that supports the well-being of children in urban environments, with a view of the changing environment, needs, values and culture. This includes creating safe and accessible spaces, quality education facilities, and healthcare services that are future-proofed. Additionally, consider policies that promote balanced urbanization to avoid overcrowding and its associated challenges.

This comprehensive approach acknowledges the complexity of the future landscape and emphasizes the importance of collaboration, adaptability, and a holistic perspective in shaping policies and strategies for the well-being of children in Abu Dhabi.

- 6. Integrate healthcare and neurodiversity in a changing society:
- Integrate considerations for neurodiversitu into healthcare policies and educational frameworks. Develop specialized programmes and support systems to address the needs of children with autism and other neurodiversities, considering present and future changes affecting communities and society. Ensure that healthcare facilities are equipped to provide comprehensive care for children with diverse developmental needs.
- 7. Technology foresight ethics and regulation: Address the challenges posed by the fusion of technology and humanity by developing ethical guidelines and regulations. Ensure that technology is harnessed to enhance, rather than hinder, the well-being of children. Emphasize the importance of digital literacy and responsible technology use in educational settings.
- 8. Sustainable resource optimization: Encourage sustainable practices and responsible resource use for the future. Acknowledge that children can thrive with less if resources are allocated efficiently and with foresight in mind. Develop policies that promote environmental awareness, cultural diversity, and creativity without compromising the well-being of children. Linking future ramifications of present individual decision-making.
- 9. Foster resilience with community engagement and collaboration: Facilitate collaboration between parents, caregivers, educators, communities, and advernment entities. Establish platforms for open dialogue and information sharing. Encourage joint initiatives to create environments that foster the holistic development of children.
- 10. Continuous monitoring and adaptation: Implement mechanisms for continuous monitoring of evolving trends and their impacts on children. Be prepared to adapt policies and strategies based on emerging insights and changing circumstances.

- (1) Children and parents: media use and attitudes report (2023). Ofcom. 2023. Available from: https://www.ofcom.org.uk/researchand-data/media-literacy-research/childrens/children-andparents-media-use-and-attitudes-report-2023
- (2) Taylor B. The future of eLearning: how technology is transforming education [Internet]. eLearning Industry. (2023). Available from: https://elearningindustry.com/the-future-of-elearning-howtechnology-is-transforming-education
- (3) Korkmaz Ö, Erer E, Erer D. Internet access and its role on educational inequality during the COVID-19 pandemic. Telecommun Policu. (2022):46(5):102353. Available from: https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.telpol.2022.102353
- (4) Gottschalk F.,OECD, Weise C. Digital equity and inclusion in education: An overview of practice and policy in OECD countries. (2023) Available from: https://one.oecd.org/document/EDU/ WKP(2023)14/en/pdf
- (5) WED Movement. Social interaction/emotional wellbeing [Internet]. [cited 2023 Nov 22]. Available from: https://wedmovement.net/ social-interaction-emotional-wellbeina/
- (6) Bray M., Hajar A. Complexity of the Contexts: Featiures of Private Tutoring and Units for Comparison in the GCC Countries of the Middle East, ECNU Review of Education (2024): 7(1):42-65. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/ epub/10.1177/20965311221113350
- (7) AI: UNESCO mobilizes education ministers from around the world for a coordinated response to ChatGPT [Internet]. Unesco.org. 2023 [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://www.unesco. org/en/articles/ai-unesco-mobilizes-education-ministers-aroundworld-co-ordinated-response-chatgpt#:~:text=A%20new%20 UNESCO%20global%20survey
- (8) Distance learning in times of COVID-19 - The Official Portal of the UAE Government [Internet]. u.ae. Available from: https://u.ae/en/ information-and-services/justice-safety-and-the-law/handlingthe-covid-19-outbreak/distance-learning-in-times-of-covid-19. [cited 2023 Aug 20].

- (9) Digital 2023: The United Arab Emirates [Internet]. DataReportal -Global Digital Insights. Available from: https://datareportal.com/ reports/digital-2023-united-arab-emirates. [cited 2023 Aug 20].
- (10) 42 Abu Dhabi The 100% Coding School [Internet]. 42 Abu Dhabi. [cited 2023 Nov 21]. Available from: https://42abudhabi. ae/?utm_source=Google&utm_medium=search&utm campaign=42ADSearchBrand&gad source=1&gclid=EAlalQobChMI z5LwmefUggMVEp9oCR38-Q01EAAYASAAEgKbNvD BwE
- (11) Exploding topics. Number of ChatGPT Users (Aug 2024). Available from: https://explodingtopics.com/blog/chatgpt-users
- (12) Rest of World. Stat of the day [Internet]. [cited 2023 Nov 30]. Available from: https://restofworld.org/stat-of-the-day/malawidata-prices/#:~:text=Twitch%2C%20which%20allows%20 users%20to
- (13) Research and Markets. Private Tutoring Global Strategic Business Report [Internet]. [cited 2024 Jan 16]. Available from: https:// www.researchandmarkets.com/reports/4721443/private-tutoringglobal-strategic-business
- (14) UNICEF. COVID-19: Are children able to continue learning during school closures? [Internet]. UNICEF DATA; 2020 [cited 2024 Jan 16]. Available from: https://data.unicef.org/resources/remote-learningreachabilitu-factsheet/
- (15) Australian Research Council Centre of Excellence for the Digital Child. Australian Research Council Centre of Excellence for the Digital Child [Internet]. [cited 2024 Jan 16]. Available from: https:// www.diaitalchild.ora.au/
- (16) United Arab Emirates Ministry of Education. According to the Responses to Educational Disruption Survey (REDS) Global Study (2022) Available from: https://www.moe.gov.ae/En/MediaCenter/ News/Pages/REDS-GlobalStudy.aspx

2. Value of Time

- (17) The Department of Community Development (DCD). Quality of Life Questionnaire - Abu Dhabi 2019. Abu Dhabi: The Department of Community Development; 2020.
- (18) Child Trends. 5 things to know about parents' knowledge of parenting and early childhood development [Internet]. [cited 2024 Jan 16]. Available from: https://www.childtrends.org/ publications/5-things-to-know-about-parents-knowledge-ofparenting-and-early-childhood-development
- (19) Rahmqvist J. et al Conscious Parenting: A Qualitative Study on Swedish Parents' Motives to Participate in a Parenting Program. (2013) Journal of Child and Familu Studies 23(934-944) Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10826-013-9750-1
- (20) UAE Ministry of Interior. UAE Ministry of Interior Launches Pioneering Strategy to Use AI to Protect Children Online [Internet]. Newswire: [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https:// www.newswire.ca/news-releases/uae-ministry-of-interiorlaunches-pioneering-strategy-to-use-ai-to-protect-childrenonline-863391935.html
- (21) Screen time: Implications for early childhood cognitive development. Early Hum Dev [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37352820/
- (22) First Things First. Brain Development [Internet]. [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://www.firstthinasfirst.org/earlu-childhoodmatters/brain-development/#:~:text=At%20birth%2C%20the%20 average%20baby
- (23) Fast Company Middle East. Parents in the UAE believe play builds stronger family bonds [Internet]. [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://fastcompanyme.com/news/parents-in-the-uaebelieve-play-builds-stronger-family-bonds/
- (24) National Center for Missing and Exploited Children. CyberTipline Data [Internet]. [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://www. missingkids.org/cybertiplinedata

- market-/1630
- emirates
- the%20Wall

(25) InsightAce Analytic. Mindfulness Meditation Apps Market Size, Scope, Growth and Revenue Share Analysis Report to 2031 [Internet]. [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://www. insightgceanglutic.com/report/mindfulness-meditation-apps-

(26) DataReportal – Global Digital Insights. Digital 2023: The United Arab Emirates [Internet]. [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://datareportal.com/reports/digital-2023-united-arab-

(27) Wong B. Top social media statistics and trends of 2023 [Internet]. Forbes: 2023 [cited 2023 Nov 22]. Available from: https://www. forbes.com/advisor/business/social-media-statistics/

(28) Performance Marketing World. Instagram Reels "getting 10 times less engagement than TikTok"- report [Internet]. [cited 2023 Nov 22]. Available from: https://www.performancemarketingworld. com/article/1799278/instagram-reels-getting-10-times-lessengagement-tiktok-report#:~:text=The%20report%2C%20from%20

3. Ageless Society

- (29) Global life expectancy at birth from 1950 to 2021, with projections until 2100 [cited 2024 Sep 2]. Available from: https://www.statista. com/statistics/805060/life-expectancy-at-birth-worldwide/
- (30) United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. World Population Prospects 2022: Summary of Results Ten key messages [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://www. un.org/development/desa/pd/sites/www.un.org.development.desa. pd/files/undesa_pd_2022_wpp_key-messages.pdf
- (31) Jain M, Singh M. Assisted Reproductive Technology (ART) Techniques [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2022 [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/books/NBK576409
- (32) Giraudeau C, Bailly N. Intergenerational programs: What can school-age children and older people expect from them? A systematic review. Eur J Ageing. 2019 Jan 28;16(3):363-76. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC6728408/
- (33) Center for Retirement Research. Social Security in Multigenerational Families [Internet]. [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://crr.bc.edu/social-security-in-multigenerationalfamilies/#:~:text=Grandparents%20tend%20to%20be%20 caregivers
- (34) MacroTrends. UAE Birth Rate 1950-2021 [Internet]. [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://www.macrotrends.net/countries/ARE/ uae/birth-rate
- (35) Bain & Company. About 150 million jobs will shift to older workers by 2030 [Internet]. [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https:// www.bain.com/about/media-center/bain-in-the-news/2023/ about-150-million-jobs-will-shift-to-older-workers-by-2030-saysbain--company/
- (36) The National. UAE's growing elderly population at risk from isolation and depression [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://www.thenationalnews.com/uge/health/ uae-s-growing-elderly-population-at-risk-from-isolation-anddepression-1.968037
- (37) Brown A. Growing share of childless adults in U.S. don't expect to ever have children [Internet]. Pew Research Center; [cited 2023 Nov 29]. Available from: https://www.pewresearch.org/shortreads/2021/11/19/growing-share-of-childless-adults-in-u-s-dontexpect-to-ever-have-children/#:~:text=Some%2044%25%20of%20 non%2Dparents

- (38) Mercer. Health and benefit strategies for 2023 survey report [Internet]. [cited 2023 Nov 29]. Available from: https://www. mercer.com/en-us/insights/total-rewards/employee-benefitsstrategy/2023-benefit-strategies-report/
- (39) United Nations. World Population Policies Related to Fertility 2021 Policies [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2023 Nov 29]. Available from: https:// www.un.org/development/desa/pd/sites/www.un.org.development. desa.pd/files/undesa pd 2021 wpp-fertility policies.pdf
- (40) Hong Kong femtech founders fight taboos and stigma, seek more investor support so city can rival Singapore as hub. South China Morning Post (2023). Available from: https://www.scmp. com/business/companies/article/3218988/hong-kong-femtechfounders-fight-taboos-and-stigma-seek-more-investor-supportso-city-can-rival
- (41) PricewaterhouseCoopers. How the GCC can be readu for the personalized medicine wave of the future [Internet]. PwC: [cited 2023 Nov 29]. Available from: https://www.strategyand.pwc.com/ m1/en/articles/2019/how-acc-be-ready-for-personalized-medicine. html
- (42) Cohn D, Horowitz JM, Minkin R, Fry R, Hurst K. The Demographics of Multigenerational Households [Internet]. Pew Research Center's Social and Demographic Trends Project; 2022 [cited 2023] Nov 29]. Available from: https://www.pewresearch.org/socialtrends/2022/03/24/the-demographics-of-multigenerationalhouseholds/
- (43) ASDA'A BCW. 2023 Arab Youth Survey Living A New Reality. Emerging Themes: My Global Citizenship, My Politics, My Livelihood, My Identity and My Aspirations [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2023 Nov 291. Available from: https://arabuouthsurveu.com/en/
- (44) Department of Community Development. National Key Performance Indicators (2021). Available from: https://www. kooperation-international.de/uploads/media/uae-vision2021indicators.pdf
- (45) Arab youth say religion and family define their personal identity and most are concerned about the loss of traditional values. BCW Mena (2023). Available from: https://www.bcw-global.com/ newsroom/middle-east/arab-youth-say-religion-and-familydefine-their-personal-identitu-and-most-are-concerned-aboutthe-loss-of-traditional-values

- (46) Elessawy FM. The Abnormal Population Growth and Urban Sprawl of an Arabian Gulf Citu: The Case of Abu Dhabi Citu. Open J Soc Sci [Internet]. 2021 Feb 5;9(2):245-69. Available from: https://www. scirp.org/journal/paperinformation.aspx?paperid=107236
- (47) United Nations. 68% of the world population projected to live in urban areas by 2050, says UN [Internet]. UN DESA | United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs; 2018 [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://www.un.org/development/desa/en/ news/population/2018-revision-of-world-urbanization-prospects. html#:~:text=News-
- (48) Jenninas V., Bamkole O. The Relationship between Social Cohesion and Urban Green Space: An Avenue for Health Promotion. Int J Environ Res Public Health (2019) 16(3):452. Available from: https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6388234/
- (49) Tunza Eco Generation. Promoting Biodiversity Conservation in Urban Areas - Ambassador report - Our Actions [Internet]. [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://tunza.eco-generation.org/ ambassadorReportView.jsp?viewID=59803#:~:text=One%20of%20 the%20main%20challenaes
- (50) Al-Yateem N, et al Anxiety related disorders in adolescents in the United Arab Emirates: a population based cross-sectional study. BMC Pediatr (2020) 20(245). Available from: https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7249318/
- (51) Shamsh Hadi. Planting 100 Million Mangrove Trees by 2030 in the UAE [Internet]. LinkedIn; [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/planting-100-million-mangrovetrees-2030-uae-shamsh-hadi/
- (52) NEOM. THE LINE [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://www.neom.com/en-us/regions/theline
- (53) Dajani H. Everything we know about the UAE's National Wellbeing Strategy 2031 [Internet]. The National; 2019 [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://www.thenationalnews.com/uae/ government/everything-we-know-about-the-uae-s-nationalwellbeing-strategy-2031-1.874643

- forest-dubai/

(54) Arthur D. Little. The Metaverse, beyond fantasy [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://www.adlittle.com/then/insights/report/metaverse-beyond-fantasy

(55) Zawya. CAFU unveils first-of-its-kind technology, to advance its commitment towards planting one million Ghaf seeds [Internet]. [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://www.zawya.com/ en/press-release/companies-news/cafu-unveils-first-of-its-kindtechnology-to-advance-its-commitment-towards-planting-onemillion-ghaf-seeds-oeb78tr5

(56) Dezeen. Stefano Boeri Architetti unveils Vertical Forest towers for Dubai [Internet], 2022 [cited 2023 Nov 20], Available from: https:// www.dezeen.com/2022/11/08/stefano-boeri-architetti-vertical-

(57) Ministry of Climate Change and Environment. UAE Green Jobs Program: Jobs and Skills for the UAE's Green Economy Transformation [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2023 Nov 29]. Available from: https://mbrsgcdn.azureedge.net/cmsstorage/mbrsg/ files/63/63c35146-4910-42ad-baaa-f948b5483b13. pdf#:~:text=Bu%202021%2C%20around%2068%2C000%20 areen.areen%20iobs%20market%20toward%202030.

(58) COP28 LOCAL CLIMATE ACTION SUMMIT 1 and 2 December 2023 Dubai, United Arab Emirates. [cited 2024] Available from: https:// www.cop28.com/en/lcas

5. Tech & Humanity

- (59) Investing in gaming in the UAE. UAE Ministry of Economy (2021). Available from: https://www. moec.gov.ae/documents/20121/0/2022 03 25 Gamina+Sector+Heatmap+in+English.pdf
- (60) Zia DrT. Embodied Al: How It Bridges the Gap Between Mind and Matter [Internet]. Techopedia; 2023 [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://www.techopedia.com/embodied-ai-bridging-thegap-between-mind-and-matter
- (61) Cloudflare. What is a large language model (LLM)? [Internet]. Cloudflare; 2023 [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://www. cloudflare.com/learning/ai/what-is-large-language-model
- (62) Cardon PW, Fleischmann C, Aritz J, Logemann M, Heidewald J. The Challenges and Opportunities of Al-Assisted Writing: Developing Al Literacy for the AI Age [Internet]. 2023 May 30;232949062311765-232949062311765. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/ doi/abs/10.1177/23294906231176517
- (63) Litslink. How Augmented Reality Influences Our Daily Lives [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://litslink. com/blog/how-augmented-reality-transforms-our-daily-lives
- (64) UNESCO. Unveiling the neurotechnology landscape: scientific advancements, innovations, and major trends [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2023 Nov 30]. Available from: https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ ark:/48223/pf0000386137
- (65) Broadband Commission. Commissioners at the AI for Good Summit 2023 [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2023 Nov 21]. Available from: https://broadbandcommission.org/commissioners-at-the-ai-forgood-summit-2023/
- (66) UNICEF. The Metaverse, Extended Reality and Children [Internet]. [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://www.unicef.org/ innocenti/media/756/file/UNICEF-Innocenti-Rapid-Analusis-Metaverse-XR-and-children-2023.pdf.pdf
- (67) Vailshery L. IoT Connected Devices Worldwide 2019-2030 [Internet]. Statista; 2022 [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https://www.statista.com/statistics/1183457/iot-connecteddevices-worldwide/

- (68) The brain computer interface market is growing but what are the risks? World Economic Forum (2024) Available from: https://www. weforum.org/agenda/2024/06/the-brain-computer-interfacemarket-is-arowina-but-what-are-the-risks/
- (69) Volume of data/information created, captured, copied, and consumed worldwide from 2010 to 2020, with forecasts from 2021 to 2025 Statista (2023) Available from: https://www.statista.com/ statistics/871513/worldwide-data-created/
- (70) Al for Good Global Summit. [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2023 Nov 30]. Available from: https://aiforgood.itu.int/summit23/
- (71) 100+ Must Know Online Learning Statistics in 2024. Guru99 (2024) Available from: https://www.guru99.com/online-learning-statistics. html
- (72) Kakulla B, editor. The 50-plus Gamer Of Today And Tomorrow [Internet]. AARP Research; 2023 [cited 2023 Nov 29]. Available from: https://www.aarp.org/content/dam/aarp/research/surveys statistics/technologu/2023/2023-gamers-50-plus.doi.10.26419-2Fres.00585.001.pdf
- (73) An Avatar's worth in the metaverse workplace: Assessing predictors of avatar customization valuation. Computers in Human Behavior 158 (2024) Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0747563224001778
- (74) Markets Research and. Global Smart Education and Learning Market (2020 to 2027) - by Age, Component, Learning Mode, Enduser, Region and Segment Forecasts [Internet]. GlobeNewswire News Room; 2020 [cited 2023 Nov 29]. Available from: https:// www.globenewswire.com/news-release/2020/06/04/2043595/0/ en/Global-Smart-Education-and-Learning-Market-2020-to-2027-by-Age-Component-Learning-Mode-End-user-Region-and-Seament-Forecasts.html

6. Misalignment

- (75) The 2024 Media Morph. You Gov (2024) Available from: file:///Users/ maddalena.campioni/Downloads/YouGov-MENA-Media-Morph-Report-March-2024 2.pdf
- (76) Velocity Global. Globalization Benefits and Challenges [Internet]. Velocity Global; 2020 [cited 2023 Nov 20]. Available from: https:// velocityglobal.com/resources/blog/globalization-benefits-andchallenges/
- (77) Good Therapy, Learn About Blended Families and Blended Family Issues [Internet]. Goodtherapy.org; 2009. Available from: https://www. goodtherapy.org/learn-about-therapy/issues/blended-family-issues
- (78) IRIS Center. IRIS | Page 3: Classroom and Teacher Influences on Behavior [Internet]. iris.peabodu.vanderbilt.edu. Available from: https:// iris.peabody.vanderbilt.edu/module/beh1/cresource/q1/p03/
- (79) UNICEF. Where you call home | The Changing Childhood Project | UNICEF x Gallup [Internet]. changingchildhood.unicef.org [cited 2023] Nov 29]. Available from: https://changingchildhood.unicef.org/en/ stories/where-uou-call-home
- (80) Karaman J. Early Childhood Education in Dubai KHDA Policy brief [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2023 Nov 29]. Available from: https://www.khda. gov.ae/CMS/WebParts/TextEditor/Documents/Early_Childhood_ Education in Dubai Eng.pdf
- (81) Aiual Schools, [Internet], Available from: https://aiualschools.ese.aov.ae/ [cited 2023 Nov 29].
- (82) ISC Research. The International Schools Market in the MENA Region [Internet]. ISC Research; 2021 [cited 2023 Nov 29]. Available from: https://www.gesseducation.com/gess-talks/articles/the-internationalschools-market-in-the-mena-region
- (83) Research and Markets. Global Smart Education and Learning Market (2020 to 2027) - by Age, Component, Learning Mode, End-user, Region and Segment Forecasts [Internet]. Research and Markets; 2020 [cited 2023 Nov 30]. Available from: https://www.statista.com/topics/11008/ esports-in-mena/
- (84) UAE Cabinet. UAE Cabinet launches "Cohesive family 2021" [Internet]. Available from: https://uaecabinet.ae/en/details/news/uae-cabinetlaunches-cohesive-family-2021 [cited 2023 Nov 29].

(85) Parental Control Software Market Size, Share & Industry Analysis, By Operating System (Windows, Android, iOS, and Cross Platform/ Multiplatform), By Deployment (On-premise and Cloud), By Application (Residential and Educational Institutes), and Regional Forecast, 2024-2032. Fortune Business Insights (2024) Available from: https://www. fortunebusinessinsights.com/parental-control-software-market-104282

(86) Foley & Lardner LLP. 2020 Esports Survey Report [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2023 Nov 29]. Available from: https://www.foley.com/insights/ publications/2020/11/2020-esports-survey-report/

(87) Glassman J, Humphreys K, Yeung S, Smith M, Jauregui A, Milstein A, et al. Parents' perspectives on using artificial intelligence to reduce technology interference during early childhood: cross-sectional online survey. J Med Internet Res. 2021 Mar 15;23(3) Available from: https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33720026/

7. Beyond Resources

- (88) Hickman C, Marks E, Pihkala P, Clayton S, Lewandowski RE, Mayall EE, et al. Climate anxiety in children and young people and their beliefs about government responses to climate change: a global survey. Lancet Planet Health. 2021 Dec;5(12):863–73. Available from: https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanplh/article/PIIS2542-5196(21)00278-3/fulltext
- (89) Air quality | Knowledge | UAE Ministry of Climate Change and Environment [Internet]. Moccae.gov.ae. 2019. Available from: https:// www.moccae.gov.ae/en/knowledge-and-statistics/air-quality.aspx
- (90) PreventionWeb. Poverty and inequality [Internet]. www.preventionweb.net. 2022. Available from: https://www.preventionweb.net/ understanding-disaster-risk/risk-drivers/poverty-inequality
- (91) Rozynek C, Schwerdtfeger S, Lanzendorf M. The influence of limited financial resources on daily travel practices: a case study of low-income households with children in the Hanover Region (Germany). J Transp Geogr. 2022 Apr;100:103329. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0966692322000527
- (92) Zhou ZC, Shuai X-Y, Lin ZJ, Yu X, Ba X, Holmes MA, et al. Association between particulate matter (PM)2·5 air pollution and clinical antibiotic resistance: a global analysis. Lancet Planet Health. 2023 Aug 1;7(8)
- -59. Available from: https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanplh/article/ PIIS2542-5196(23)00135-3/fulltext
- (93) IDMC. 2021 global report on internal displacement [Internet]. www. internal-displacement.org. 2021. Available from: https://www. internal-displacement.org/global-report/grid2021/
- (94) Ministry of Climate Change and Environment Launches Green Jobs Report [Internet]. moccae.gov.ae. 2019. Available from: https://www.wam.ae/en/details/1395302743543
- (95) Top 685+ startups in baby health monitoring [Internet]. Tracxn. [cited 2023 Nov 23]. Available from: https://tracxn.com/d/ trending-themes/startups-in-baby-health-monitoring/_Ky2NL-Gvtq96HwIOVKggMig-00o9tMTx2nO1gAbuxgYQ

- (96) Carey C. Saudi Arabian smart city project promises to be "zero carbon" [Internet]. Cities Today. 2022 [cited 2023 Nov 23]. Available from: https://cities-today.com/saudi-arabian-smart-cityproject-promises-to-be-zero-carbon/
- (97) Dubai Electricity and Water Authority (DEWA). Dubai's clean energy transition gathers pace with innovative initiatives [Internet]. www.dewa.gov.ae. Available from: https://www.dewa. gov.ae/en/about-us/media-publications/latest-news/2022/12/ dubais-clean-energu-transition
- (98) Environment UN. Adaptation Gap Report 2022 [Internet]. UNEP -UN Environment Programme. 2022 [cited 2023 Nov 23]. Available from: https://www.unep.org/resources/adaptation-gap-report-2022#:~:text=Estimated%20annual%20adaptation%20 needs%20are
- (99) Environmental Consulting Services Market Industry Size, Share, Trends and Forecast 2026 [Internet]. www.acumenresearchandconsulting.com. [cited 2023 Nov 23]. Available from: https:// esgnews.com/global-environmental-consulting-services-market-to-reach-t3-2-billion-by-2026/#:~:text=The%20global%20 market%20for%20Environmental,5.3%25%20over%20the%20analysis%20period.
- (100) Tackling the Loss and Damage Fund -Dialogue on the Funds operationalization, Challenges and Opportunities. UN Climate Change (2024) Available from: https://unfccc.int/event/tackling-the-lossand-damage-fund
- (101) Sharma A. Investments in new desalination projects in UAE valued at \$2.08bn, minister says [Internet]. The National. 2022. Available from: https://www.thenationalnews.com/business/energy/2022/05/10/investments-in-new-desalination-projects-in-uaevalued-at-208bn-minister-says/
- (102) The Circularity Gap Report 2023: the global economy is only 7.2% circular [Internet]. CircularInvest. 2023 [cited 2023 Nov 23]. Available from: https://www.circularinvest.eu/News/newsItem?title=The%2BCircularity%2BGap%2BReport%2B2023%253a%2Bthe%2Bglobal%2Beconomy%2Bis%2Bonly%2B7.2%2525%2Bcircular#:-:text=Of%20the%20landmark%20100%20billion

- (103) 2.1 billion people lack safe drinking water at home, more than twice as many lack safe sanitation. UNICEF (2017) Available from: https://www.unicef.org/armenia/en/press-releases/21-billion-people-lack-safe-drinking-water-home-more-twice-many-lack-safesanitation#:~:text=ln%20order%20to%20decreese%20global,a%20 basic%20drinking%20water%20service.
- (104) Smart Home United Arab Emirates [Internet]. Statista Market Insights. [cited 2023 Nov 30]. Available from: https://www.statista. com/outlook/dmo/smart-home/united-arab-emirates
- (105) International Energy Agency. Tracking Clean Energy Progress 2023 - Assessing critical energy technologies for global clean energy transitions. (2023) Available from: https://www.iea.org/ reports/tracking-clean-energy-progress-2023
- (106) Third of UAE parents say kids need extra tutoring [Internet]. Which School Advisor. June 2023. Available from: https://whichschooladvisor.com/uae/school-news/third-of-uae-parents-say-kids-needextra-tutoring



Disclaimer

This report is not intended as an exhaustive analysis or review but as a supportive material for the future and foresight work and research in the Early Childhood Development Sector.



Published by

Abu Dhabi Early Childhood Authority www.eca.gov.ae Download PDF version at: www.eca.gov.ae/Future-Foresight Copyright © 2024 - Abu Dhabi Early Childhood Authority

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any mean, electronic, electrostatic, magnetic tape, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning or otherwise, without permission in writing from the publisher.